FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/7/2018 4:58 PM
No. 96173-5

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/10/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 77630-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Marriage of:

CHANDRA LONG,

Respondent,

and

MICHELANGELO BORRELLO,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com
shelby@appeal-law.com
Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The child at issue has lived with her father in Italy since June 2016. The Court of Rome exercised jurisdiction under Article 11 of the Hague Convention on Jurisdiction, allowing it to "take any necessary measures" to protect a child in "cases of urgency." The Court of Rome found it necessary that A remain in Italy until the Contracting State where she habitually resides makes a final decision addressing the Court of Rome's concerns. This is consistent with Washington law, preferring the least disruption possible in pretrial parenting plans. But without addressing the Court of Rome order, the trial court directly contradicted it, ordering A's immediate relocation to the U.S. pending trial. This offends the doctrine of comity, the HCCH, and the UCCJEA.

The trial court assumed UCCJEA jurisdiction without addressing whether Italy has jurisdiction under Article 5 (placing jurisdiction in the Contracting State where A habitually resides). The appellate court incorrectly held that Washington has Article 5 jurisdiction based on an Italian order addressing A's habitual residence in 2015. Milan recently asserted Article 5 jurisdiction.

Conflicts abound, and substantial questions require this Court's determination. This Court should accept review and reverse.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The 1996 Hague Convention on Jurisdiction, Applicable Law, Recognition, Enforcement and Co-operation in Respect of Parental Responsibility and Measures for the Protection of Children ("1996 HCCH") provides that in "all cases of urgency, the authorities of any Contracting State in whose territory the child ... is present have jurisdiction to take any necessary measures of protection." Art. 11.1. Those measures lapse when the authorities of the Contracting State in which the child habitually resides "have taken the measures" required by the situation." Art. 11.2. (A) Does it violate the doctrine of comity for the superior court to ignore an Article 11 order, and order a child's immediate relocation before trial, where that child has lived with her father in the Article 11 Contracting State since June 2016? (B) Does the same violate RCW 26.09.197? (C) Does the Article 11 court have the authority to rule that it is in the child's best interest to remain in one parent's care, in that Country, until the other Contracting State enters final orders adjudicating the child's best interests, and must that order be enforced under the UCCJEA?
- 2. Does it upset the UCCJEA, comity, and Supremacy Clause jurisprudence to apply the UCCJEA rather than the 1996 HCCH to determine jurisdiction over a child?

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

The parties' only child "A" was born in Catania, Italy, on March 8, 2009. CP 1106. A holds Italian and American citizenship. CP 557. She lived in Italy for 4.5 years, interrupted only in Spring 2011, when Respondent Chandra Long brought A to Washington on vacation, but wrongfully retained her here. CP 722, 933, 970-72; RP 18-19. On July 18, 2011, the Washington court granted Petitioner Michelangelo Borrello's petition for A's immediate return to Italy, brought under the 1980 Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction, ruling that A habitually resided in Italy and that Long wrongfully retained her in Washington. CP 970-72.

Once back in Italy, A remained there until Long relocated with her to Washington in September 2013. *Marriage of Long v. Borrello*, No. 77630-4-I, 2018 Wn. App. LEXIS 1578, at *3 (July 9, 2018) (attached as App. A); CP 555, 751; RP 19. But when Long repeatedly failed to follow the parties' "consensual separation" agreement, entered in the Court of Rome, Borrello moved the Court of Rome to modify it in April 2015. CP 555, 1103-05, 1115-1129. Long appeared through counsel to contest jurisdiction on the basis that A habitually resided in Washington. CP 555. She did not otherwise participate. CP 505, 562.

Instead, Long filed a dissolution petition in Washington in November 2015. CP 1088-95. One month later, she appealed Rome's decision taking jurisdiction to Italy's highest court, the Court of Cassation. CP 503-04, 505. The Court of Rome continued to move forward with Borrello's motion while Long's appeal was pending, as is permitted. CP 505, 562. Long declined to participate. *Id*.

The Court of Rome ordered, among other things, that A should reside with Borrello. *Id.* The court-appointed psychological evaluator ("CTU") recommended that A live primarily with Borrello, in large part because Borrello was more capable of ensuring that A maintains a relationship with both parties. CP 571. By contrast, Long is incapable of cooperating with Borrello and unconcerned about facilitating his relationship with A. CP 573.

On February 26, 2016, Long filed a Motion for Temporary Orders in Washington despite the proceedings in the Court of Rome and the Cassation Court. CP 750. Borrello moved to dismiss in March, and the Superior Court stayed all proceedings. CP 750-51.

On June 22, 2016, A returned to Italy for her residential time with Borrello. CP 542. One week later, the parties agreed in court that A would reside in Italy for the 2016-2017 school-year. CP 505. The parties affirmed the same on October 11, 2016, specifically

agreeing: (1) that A live with Borrello in Italy until the Cassation Court decided Long's appeal; (2) that Borrello would have "temporary sole custody" of A; (3) that Long would pay 50% of the agreed extraordinary expenses; and (4) that Long would have visitation in Catania, Italy. CP 505, 743. This agreement is documented in multiple court orders. CP 432-33, 557, 562, 743.

A has remained in Italy with Borrello since. CP 372, 505, 562, 743. Despite court orders authorizing visitation, and despite Borrello's invitations, Long never visited. *Id*.

On June 5, 2017, the Cassation Court published its decision that Italy lacked jurisdiction over Borrello's petition to modify the parties' separation agreement, where A lived in Washington in 2015 when Borrello filed.¹ CP 506, 557-58. Shortly thereafter, Borrello moved the Court of Rome to exercise its jurisdiction under the 1996 HCCH Article 11, conferring jurisdiction to any Contracting State² where a child is present to take "any necessary measures of protection" in "cases of urgency":

_

¹ Although the Court rendered its decision in February, June was the first notice to the parties. CP 506, 558.

² A Contracting State has "consented to be bound by a convention, whether or not that Convention has entered into force for that State." **Long** at *6 fn.9 (citing https://www.hcch.net/en/instruments/conventions/specialised-sections/apostille/faq1, emphasis original).

In all cases of urgency, the authorities of any Contracting State in whose territory the child or property belonging to the child is present have jurisdiction to take any necessary measures of protection.

CP 561; 1996 HCCH Art. 11.1 (1996 HCCH attached as App. B). On June 21, 2017, the Court of Rome closed proceedings on Borrello's petition to modify (pursuant to the Cassation decision) and granted his motion to take urgent measures under Article 11. CP 561-63.

The Court of Rome deemed it "absolutely necessary for [A's] interest that she remain in Italy" with Borrello "[u]ntil such time when the US court may make any final decision" and "evaluate[s] the array of elements indicated," including:

- ◆ That A "has been in Italy since June 2016 upon mutual consent of the spouses, ... has successfully attended school, so that she can be guaranteed, in her best interest, attendance in the following school year and ensured academic continuity and a consistent educational path";
- That Long failed to participate in the Italian proceedings;
- That Long had not visited A since June 2016;
- That the CTU found that Long had been trying to draw A away from Borrello;
- That there is a "need to ensure" A's visitation with Borrello; and
- ◆ That Long had previously wrongfully retained A in the United States, against A's best interests.

CP 562-63. Long did not appeal this order.

On July 14, 2017, Long moved the Superior Court to lift the stay entered in May 2016, seeking temporary orders. CP 734-39. Long ignored the 1996 HCCH and omitted that Rome had exercised Article 11 jurisdiction, asking Washington to exercise UCCJEA jurisdiction. *Id.* Borrello answered that A's habitual residence had changed to Italy, such that Italy, not Washington, has jurisdiction under the 1996 HCCH Article 5, providing that the Contracting State where a child habitually resides has jurisdiction and that when a child's habitual residence changes, the new Contracting State has jurisdiction (CP 637-38; 1996 HCCH Art. 5):

- (1) The judicial or administrative authorities of the Contracting State of the habitual residence of the child have jurisdiction to take measures directed to the protection of the child's person or property.
- (2) Subject to Article 7, [3] in case of a change of the child's habitual residence to another Contracting State, the authorities of the State of the new habitual residence have jurisdiction.

³ Article 7 governs wrongful removal or retention. Although Long claimed that Borrello wrongfully removed or retained A on appeal, she never raised this issue before the trial court, and has never brought a Hague Convention petition for A's "return" to the United States. In any event, Borrello did not wrongfully remove A, who went to Italy in June 2016 for court-ordered visitation. *Long* at *3; CP 360, 432-33, 505, 562, 557, 743. He did not wrongfully retain A, who has remained in Italy per agreement and court order. *Id.*

On September 6, 2017, Borrello petitioned the Civil Court of Milan (where he and A reside) to take jurisdiction under the 1996 HCCH Article 5, and to confirm A's sole custody with Borrello and continued residence in Italy. CP 365, 375-78, 382. He sought the same relief under related EU Regulations. CP 375-78.

On September 19, the Superior Court Commissioner lifted the stay and took jurisdiction over A under the UCCJEA. CP 422, 1098. The Commissioner denied Long's request to immediately relocate A to Washington, noting that she very rarely relocates children on temporary orders, even when geographic distance is minimal. CP 1098; RP 32, 37. The Commissioner did not address the 1996 HCCH, or the Court of Rome order. CP 422-24, 1098.

On revision, the Superior Court: (1) "found" that Long was A's "primary caretaker" (although she had been living with Borrello since June 2016); (2) took personal jurisdiction over Borrello; (3) ordered the parties to draft a temporary parenting plan following their then five-year-old 2012 separation agreement; and (4) without appointing a GAL, ordered Borrello to relocate A to the United States within two weeks. CP 356-57. The trial court registered the Court of Rome order, but did not address it. CP 356-57, 423, 1098. Neither did it address the 1996 HCCH, or A's habitual residence. *Id*.

Two days after Borrello filed a Notice of Discretionary Review, on November 15, 2017, the Superior Court denied his motion to stay and entered Long's proposed temporary parenting plan that placed A with her. CP 25-39, 43-54. The appellate court later stayed all trial court proceedings and accepted review.

The appellate court affirmed in a published decision. Borrello asks this Court to accept review and reverse.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

- A. The appellate decision on the 1996 HCCH Article 11 conflicts with the HCCH itself, numerous cases from this Court and the appellate courts, and RCW 26.09.197, and raises issues of substantial public interest this Court should address. RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2)&(4).
 - 1. The appellate decision conflicts with the doctrine of comity and numerous cases applying it.

As addressed above, the Court of Rome ordered that it was "absolutely necessary for [A's] interest that she remain in Italy" until the Washington court⁴ makes a "final decision" evaluating Rome's reasons for taking urgent measures to protect A. CP 562-63. Under the doctrine of comity, "a court has discretion to 'give effect to laws [and resulting judicial orders] of another jurisdiction out of deference

9

⁴ Article 11 assumes that another Contracting State has jurisdiction under Articles 5-10. The Court of Rome assumed that Washington has Article 5 jurisdiction. Italy, not Washington, now has Article 5 jurisdiction, where A's habitual residence has changed. *Infra*, Argument § B.

and respect, considering the interests of each [jurisdiction]."

MacKenzie v. Barthol, 142 Wn. App. 235, 240, 173 P.3d 980 (2007)

(quoting Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 160-61, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987)). As this Court stated it over a century ago, foreign orders "will be recognized and given force if it be found that they do not conflict with the local law, inflict an injustice on our own citizens, or violate the public policy of the state."

Reynolds v. Day, 79 Wash. 499, 506, 140 P. 681 (1914) (quoting State ex rel. Baker River & Shuiksan R.R. v. Nichols, 51 Wash. 619, 621, 99 P. 876 (1909)); MacKenzie, 142 Wn. App. at 240. Under this doctrine, the trial court should have enforced the Court of Rome order, as it is consistent with Washington's laws and policies.

Rome's principal concern was A's best interest, consistent with Washington laws and the 1966 HCCH. CP 562-63; RCW 26.09.197; HCCH preamble. Also consistent with RCW 26.09.197, the Court of Rome order maintains the "parenting arrangements [that] will cause the least disruption to the child's emotional stability while the action is pending," by keeping her in Italy with her father until Washington enters a final order after adjudicating Rome's reasons for taking urgent measures. CP 562-63. Enforcing that order would not work an injustice on Long who had representation in Italy

and the opportunity to participate in the proceedings, and did not appeal the Court of Rome order. CP 554-55.

The appellate court held the "doctrine of comity does not apply here because the trial court was not recognizing or enforcing the Civil Court of Rome's order." *Long* at *16. Rather, the appellate court believes that Washington's UCCJEA jurisdiction "caused the Civil Court of Rome's order to lapse," so the trial court "had no obligation to address the Civil Court of Rome's order and did not fail to respect it." *Id.* This holding contravenes the 1996 HCCH's very purposes:

- To determine which Contracting State has jurisdiction;
- To "provide for the recognition and enforcement" of the measures Contracting States take to protect children; and
- To "establish such co-operation between the authorities of the Contracting States as may be necessary in order to achieve the purposes of this Convention."

Art. 1.1. If the 1996 HCCH and the doctrine of comity mean anything, it is that courts in each Contracting State must give deference to one another's orders.

In sum, the appellate decision conflicts with century-old law from this Court and the appellate courts. This Court should accept review and reverse.

2. The appellate decision conflicts with RCW 26.09.197.

A temporary parenting entered before trial must be in the "best interest of the child," considering the same factors governing the entry of permanent parenting plans, but giving particular consideration to: "(1) The relative strength, nature, and stability of the child's relationship with each parent; and (2) Which parenting arrangements will cause the least disruption to the child's emotional stability while the action is pending." RCW 26.09.197. The closest the trial court came to addressing the first factor was "finding" that Long is A's "primary caretaker," despite the fact that A has lived with Borrello in Italy since June 2016 without seeing Long. *Compare* CP 356 *with* CP 505, 562-63, 743. The trial court did not address which parenting arrangements would be best for A or her best interests. CP 23-37, 223-24, 356-57, 422-24, 1096-98.

But Rome did address A's best interests, deeming it "absolutely necessary for the minor's interest that she remain in Italy" based in significant part on A's need to maintain contact with Borrello, and Long's refusal to visit. CP 562-63. This answers the second factor too – it will "cause the least disruption" for A to remain

in Italy with Borrello, in her school and her home, until a court makes a final decision about residential placement. RCW 26.09.197(2).

As to the first factor, the appellate court held that "the parties' 2012 separation agreement state[s] that A. has a stronger relationship with Long in Washington than with Borrello in Italy." **Long** at *18. The appellate court may not go back six years to ignore the child's current situation. While RCW 26.09.197(1) was amended to remove consideration of the parent who has taken on greater parenting responsibilities in the last 12 months, that does not excuse ignoring the last two years. *Id.* at *16-18.

The appellate court does not address the second factor, ignoring that with Long's consent, A has lived in Italy with her father for well over two years, during which time Long had not visited. CP 505, 562-63, 743. Further, while the appellate court was persuaded by the fact that A resided in Washington for three years before returning to Italy in 2016, it ignores that before that, A spent the first four years of her young life in Italy with both parents. *Long* at *18. It is plainly disruptive to relocate A across the world pending trial.

Finally, the appellate court held that it is not an abuse of discretion to decide "that A. live in her 'home state' with her custodial parent." *Id.* Again, A has not lived here since June 2016, and again

too, Borrello is her primary *residential* parent. CP 505, 562-63, 743. The decision at hand was not whether A will live in her "home state," but whether she will have to relocate across the world before a court has made a final decision about where she will live. Both the trial and appellate courts seem to have predetermined that question.

3. The appellate decision conflicts with the 1996 HCCH Article 11 and the UCCJEA.

Both the HCCH and the UCCJEA require the Superior Court to recognize and enforce the Court of Rome order. Yet the court directly contradicted that order, ordering A's immediate relocation to the U.S. without making a final decision or addressing Rome's concerns. The appellate court does not disagree.

Instead, the appellate court held that the Court of Rome exceeded its authority, an argument Long never raised.⁵ *Long* at *7-9. The appellate court relies on Article 11.2, providing that urgent measures taken under Article 11.1 "lapse as soon as the authorities

doing so, the appellate court has created a question of statutory interpretation reviewed *de novo*.

14

⁵ Long argued only (1) that "final decision" does not mean final, contrary to uncontested expert opinion on Italian law; and (2) that Washington did consider Rome's concerns, despite never addressing them in its orders. Neither did the Superior Court address the Court of Rome order at all, much less the scope of Rome's authority. CP 23-37, 223-24, 356-57, 422-24, 1096-98. That is, the appellate court decided this matter on an issue that was not raised and did not form the basis of the trial court's decision. In

which have jurisdiction under Articles 5 to 10 have taken the measures required by the situation." According to the appellate court, Rome's order lapsed as soon as Washington "exercised its article 5 authority and issued its temporary order." *Id.* at *8.

The first flaw in that analysis is that the superior court did not exercise its Article 5 authority, and has none. Urgent measures lapse only when a court that has jurisdiction under Articles 5-10 takes the required measures. Art. 11.2. As addressed below, Washington does not have Article 5 jurisdiction and did not purport to act under the 1996 HCCH. *Infra*, Argument § B.

Nor does Article 5 itself give a court with Article 5 jurisdiction the authority to determine what measures must be taken for another State's urgent measures to lapse. *Long* at *9. Indeed, Article 5 is silent on its relationship to Article 11, so offers no support for the appellate court's conclusion.

Rome did not exceed its authority – under Article 11.1 it may take "any necessary measures of protection" in "cases of urgency." Rome plainly gets to determine which "measures" are necessary to protect A, and did, ordering that she remain in Italy until there is a final decision on her residential placement addressing her best interests. CP 562-63. That is entirely consistent with Washington law

in that it preserves A's status quo pending trial, and is principally concerned with her best interests. See RCW 26.09.197. Denying Rome (or any Article 11 court) the opportunity to define how it will protect a child is denying it the right to take "any necessary measures of protection." Art. 11.1.

The appellate court takes the view that the Court of Rome limited Washington's authority. Long at *9. But Rome did not direct Washington to do anything. Rather, it ruled that it was necessary for A's protection to remain in Italy until an Article 5 court makes a final decision addressing her best interests. Again, the ability to determine how to protect A is squarely within the province of an Article 11 court.

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