# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/17/2018 3:22 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96173-5

Court of Appeals No. 77630-4-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHANDRA LONG,

Respondent,

v.

MICHELANGELO BORRELLO,

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew D. Taylor, WSBA No. 31938 Attorney for Respondent Chandra Long

MCKINLEY IRVIN, PLLC 1501 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1750 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 625-9600

### **

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should deny review of an unpublished Court of Appeals decision affirming summary judgment where:

- the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court or with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; and
- the decision of the Court of Appeals does not raise any significant question of law or public interest.

#### D. FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION

<u>Background</u>. Mr. Borrello is an Italian citizen, and Ms. Long is a United States citizen who grew up in Everett, Washington. <u>In re Marriage of Long</u>, 4 Wn. App. 231, 235, 421 P.3d 989 (2018) (Court

of Appeals Opinion). They married in the United States in 2008 but later moved to Italy. <u>Id</u>. Their daughter was born in Italy in March 2009. In March 2011, Long moved back to Washington state with the parties' daughter. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Borrello petitioned a Washington court for their daughter's return, and the court granted his request. <u>Id</u>. at 235-36.

By December 2012, the parties had agreed that their daughter would be placed primarily with Ms. Long and that Ms. Long could return to Washington state with their daughter. The Court of Rome approved this arrangement as a separation agreement, and Ms. Long moved back to Washington state in September 2013. <u>Id</u>. at 236. This is where Ms. Long and the parties' daughter lived until June 2016. <u>Id</u>. None of these facts are disputed.

Court of Rome and Snohomish Co. Sup. Ct. cases. In April 2015, Mr. Borrello asked the Court of Rome to modify their separation agreement and made various accusations about Ms. Long, all of which she disputes. The Court of Rome exercised jurisdiction in October 2015. <u>Id</u>.

In November 2015, Ms. Long filed a Petition for Dissolution. In December 2015, she appealed the decision of the Court of Rome to exercise jurisdiction to the Court of Cassation, which is Italy's highest court. Id. In February 2016, Ms. Long filed in the Washington case a Motion to Establish Jurisdiction, and Mr. Borrello asked the Washington court to dismiss. The Washington court stayed the case pending the outcome of the Italian proceedings. Id.

In June 2016, the parties' daughter travelled to Italy for scheduled summer visitation with Mr. Borrello. At that point, the Court of Rome awarded him temporary custody, ordering she attend school for the 2016-2017 school year pending the outcome of the Cassation Court ruling. <u>Id</u>.

<u>Cassation Court Ruling</u>. On February 7, 2017, the Cassation Court held that the Court of Rome lacked jurisdiction over the child and could not modify the parties' agreement because their daughter had been living in Washington since 2013, and as such, Washington courts had jurisdiction. <u>Id</u>. (citing Cassation Court ruling).

Court of Rome's exercise of temporary emergency jurisdiction
on remand. Although the Cassation Court issued its opinion on

February 7, 2017, the parties did not receive the translation until July 23, 2017. Mr. Borrello immediately sought ex-parte relief in the Court of Rome, and three days after the Cassation Court opinion was issued, the Court of Rome exercised what all parties have conceded amounts to temporary emergency jurisdiction.

Snohomish County Superior Court case. In July 2017, Ms. Long renewed her previously-stayed Motion to Establish Jurisdiction in Washington on the basis of the Cassation Court opinion, and she moved for temporary orders, including asking for a temporary parenting plan that returned the child to Washington. <u>Id</u>. at 237. The Superior Court commissioner found that Washington had jurisdiction, denied Mr. Borrello's motion to dismiss, but declined to order the parties' daughter to return to Washington. <u>Id</u>. On revision, the trial court judge ordered the child's return. <u>Id</u>.

<u>Court of Appeals case</u>. Mr. Borrello moved for discretionary review, which was granted. Additionally, the Court of Appeals commissioner stayed the trial court case pending appeal. On July 9, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court.

Mr. Borrello now seeks review with this Court.

### E. REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT REVIEW

### 1. Criteria for Supreme Court review

Rule 13.4(b) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the State Constitution or of the United States Constitution is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

Here, Petitioner claims review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), & (b)(4). For the reasons described herein, the Court should conclude none of the criteria enumerated in RAP 13.4(b) apply and should deny review.

## 2. The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court or another division of the Court of Appeals.

Petitioner claims the decision here conflicts with the Hague Convention, as well as "numerous cases from this Court and the appellate courts," as well as with RCW 26.09.197. <u>See</u> Petition at 9. The Court should reject these arguments.

# a. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any cases applying the doctrine of comity.

The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court is consistent with Washington and other case law regarding the doctrine of comity, which provides that courts in one jurisdiction may give effect to the laws of another jurisdiction out of deference. In support of this argument, Mr. Borrello cites MacKenzie v. Barthol, 142, Wn. App. 235, 240, 173 P.3d 980 (2007); Haberman v. Washing. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 160-61, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987); and Reynolds v. Day, 79 Wash. 499, 506, 140 P.681 (1914) for this proposition.

The problem with Mr. Borrello's argument is it built on the faulty premise that the trial court's orders actually do indeed conflict with the rulings of Italian courts. But they only conflict if one adopts Mr. Borrello's tortured interpretation of the Court of Rome's emergency temporary order. Mr. Borrello would have this Court ignore the portion of the Court of Rome ruling where the Court

specifies its emergency jurisdiction under Article 11 of the Hague convention was only temporary. Indeed, the Court of Rome made it clear the temporary measures were to last only until the Washington court addressed Mr. Borrello's allegations:

Until such time when the American court will be able to evaluate the array of elements indicated so far, it is deemed absolutely necessary for the minor's interest that she remain in Italy and that she continue her schooling here.

Id.

As the Court of Appeals pointed out, after the lower Italian court entered this temporary ruling, the Snohomish County Superior Court commissioner held a hearing, considered all of the arguments of the parties and counsel, and took jurisdiction per the Italian Supreme Court ruling. See CP 422-24 (Commissioner's September 19, 2017 Ruling); CP 931-46 (Petitioner's Motion to Establish Jurisdiction under UCCJEA, filed 2/26/2016, but stayed until after Italian appeal); CP 437-486 (expert declarations); CP 411-421 (Motion for Revision); CP 356-57 (Order on Revision); CP 253-330

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Borrello claims in his footnote 5 that his expert opinion was "uncontested". <u>See</u> Petition at 14. This is false. The trial court had testimony from experts on Italian law from <u>both</u> parties.

(Memorandum of Law and Declaration of Counsel); CP 40-42 (Borrello Memorandum of Authorities); CP 223-24 (Order on Reconsideration).

Mr. Borrello ignores all of this and has asked the appellate courts to adopt an interpretation of the lower Italian court's temporary order that would prohibit the Superior Court from ever entering a temporary parenting plan, even though it has jurisdiction over the child. The bottom line is that Mr. Borrello is pretending the trial court did not address the issues identified in the Court of Rome's July 2017 order when it did. From there, he pretends the Court of Appeals is ignoring the Court of Rome order. From these faulty premises, he contends the doctrine of comity is violated. The Court should reject his arguments and deny the Petition for Review.

### b. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with RCW 26.09.197.

Mr. Borrello further argues the trial court's temporary orders and the Court of Appeals decision conflict with RCW 26.09.197, which requires trial courts to give consideration to "which parent has taken greater responsibility during the last 12 months for performing parenting functions relating to the daily needs of the child" and which

arrangements will cause the least disruption to the child. <u>See</u> Petition at 12.

Mr. Borrello claims because the child has been in Italy during the pendency of the appeal to the Cassation Court (which again, held that Washington was the child's home state), the trial court and the Court of Appeals should presumably have fashioned a parenting plan where he was the primary parent. This argument makes no sense, is borderline offensive, and there clearly is no conflict with any case law here. Again, Mr. Borrello completely ignores the fact the only reason the child has been with him so long is because of the appellate process in Italy, the result of which is that jurisdiction was never proper in Italy, and instead the child's habitual residence was with her mother in Washington. Mr. Borrello would have the Superior Court and this Court interpret RCW 26.09.197 to reward people who keep children for a long period of time during litigation, even if there was never jurisdiction in that location.

Notably, Mr. Borrello does not cite any cases that hold his interpretation of RCW 26.09.197 as accurate. This is likely because his argument ignores the facts of this case, and because it is contrary

to the Hague Convention. First, as is described above, the Italian Supreme Court specifically stated in its February 7, 2017 opinion that the fact the parties' daughter went to stay temporarily with Mr. Borrello in July 2016 was not a basis on which jurisdiction could be based:

One cannot attribute importance to the subsequent agreement, which was temporary in nature, as it may be surmised from the minutes of the October 11, 2016 hearing, with which the parents agreed on "pending jurisdiction regulation" and, until any due decision, on the temporary custody of the child to the father.

### See CP 556.

Second, this interpretation comports with the law regarding The Hague Convention. The preamble to the 1980 Convention (a predecessor to the 1996 Convention) describes the signatories as "[d]esiring to protect children internationally from the harmful effects of their wrongful removal." See Hague Convention, Oct. 25, 1980, preamble, 19 I.L.M. 1501, 1501. These harmful effects may occur either through the removal of a child from its habitual environment, or by a refusal to restore a child to its own environment after a stay abroad. Mozes v. Mozes, 239 F.3d 1067, 1070 (9th Cir.2001). The Convention seeks to deter parental abductions by depriving the

abductor's actions of any "practical or juridical consequences," and thus eliminating the "primary motivation" for the abduction - to obtain an advantage in custody proceedings by commencing them in another country. <u>Mozes</u>, 239 F.3d at 1070.

This is exactly what Mr. Borrello is arguing. He acknowledges jurisdiction was proper in Snohomish County at the time he filed his Modification action in April 2015, but he claims that by keeping his daughter with him in Italy during the time the appeal was being heard, he has now established he should be the primary parent under RCW 26.09.197. He is asking the Court to allow him "to obtain an advantage in custody proceedings by commencing them in another country[.]", <u>id.</u>, and the Court should reject his request.

This argument regarding RCW 26.09.197 is very similar to another argument Mr. Borrello makes in his Petition and at the Court of Appeals: namely, that by keeping their daughter in Italy during the appeal, he established jurisdiction in Italy under Article 5 of the Hague Convention. But as to this argument, Mr. Borrello is ignoring the law regarding when habitual residence under Article 5 is to be determined, *i.e.*, by reference to customary residence prior to removal.

<u>See Friedrich v. Friedrich</u>, 983 F.2d 1396, 1401-02 (6th Cir.1993) (habitual residence to be determined by reference to customary residence prior to removal and requires a change in geography and passage of time). Here, there is no dispute: the Italian Supreme Court held the child's habitual residence was in Washington State.

These fundamental principles underlying The Hague Convention are reflected in the UCCJEA, which likewise prohibits generating jurisdiction via wrongfully keeping the child. In the <a href="Ieronimakis">Ieronimakis</a> case, this Court specifically rejected such an analysis:

This analysis is unpersuasive because the facts which the trial court relied on in determining the jurisdiction question came into existence <u>after</u> the dissolution petition was filed. At the time the petition was filed all the relevant information was in Greece ... The fact that there was substantial evidence concerning the children's care, protection, training, and personal relationships at the time of trial does not justify the Washington court taking jurisdiction.

To allow Washington courts to assert jurisdiction because [the mother] generated significant contacts with the state is in effect telling any abducting parent that if you can stay away from the home state long enough to generate new considerations and new evidence, that is a sufficient reason for the new state to assert a right to adjudicate the issue. Such a holding circumvents the intent of the jurisdiction laws.

<u>In re Marriage of Ieronimakis</u>, 66 Wn. App. 83, 92, 831 P.2d 172 (1992).

All of this is very straightforward. There are no cases anywhere that indicate RCW 26.09.197 requires a court to keep a child in a country which undisputedly has no jurisdiction over the child simply because the appellate process was lengthy. Indeed, all of the case law makes it clear this is repugnant and would provide an incentive for parents to ignore Hague Convention and UCCJEA orders. As such, the trial court and the Court of Appeals decisions do not conflict with any case law, and review should be denied.

### 3. The Court of Appeals decision does not raise an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Mr. Borrello claims there is "tension" between the UCCJEA and the Hague Convention that creates an issue of substantial public interest warranting review. See Petition at 17. The Court should reject this argument because it requires the Court to ignore everything the Cassation Court wrote, and instead adopt a set of alternative facts that do not exist.

Mr. Borrello claims the Court of Appeals is wrong in that the Cassation Court did not address jurisdiction under Article 5 of the

Hague Convention. <u>See</u> Petition at 17. It is difficult to know how to respond to this argument. This is the primary holding of the Italian Court: that Italy <u>does not</u> have Article 5 jurisdiction, and that instead Washington does because it is the child's habitual residence:

Given these circumstances, the fact that the minor child has been habitually residing in the US since 2013 is clearly reflected in the court records, therefor the Italian courts' lack of jurisdiction is confirmed.

### See CP 557.

Mr. Borrello appears to make the argument he made to the Court of Appeals, i.e., that yes, although Italy did not have Article 5 jurisdiction originally, it obtained Article 5 jurisdiction because he kept the child during the appeal to the Italian Supreme Court.<sup>2</sup> Thus Mr. Borrello's position is that the Hague Convention would condone a parent kidnapping or improperly keeping a child in a country without jurisdiction so long as the appeal process took long enough.

-

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